
From: [REDACTED]  
Sent: 16 October 2021 11:02 
To: Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity <MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot> 
Cc: [REDACTED]  
Subject: Deposit Return Scheme - Circularity Scotland 
 
Dear Minister 
 
Please find attached a letter in response to our meeting on 7th October 2021 concerning the go live 
date for Scotland’s Deposit Return Scheme. 
 
Best wishes 
 
[REDACTED] 
 
 
 
Sent on his behalf [REDACTED]  
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Circularity Scotland Limited 
Exchange Tower 

19 Canning Street 
Edinburgh 

EH3 8EH 
 

16 October 2021 
Ms Lorna Slater MSP 
Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity 
St Andrew’s House 
Regent Road 
Edinburgh 
EH1 3DG 
 

Deposit Return Scheme – Follow Up from Go Live Discussions 
 
Dear Minister, 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to speak with you on the 7th October to discuss the setting of the go 
live date for the Deposit Return Scheme in Scotland.  We recognise the pressures which you are 
facing regarding the need to delay the start of the scheme, however, we think it is important not to 
underestimate the scale of ambition of what we are seeking to achieve here and the long-term 
benefits of a successful launch. 
 
Please be in no doubt about our commitment to the delivery of a successful DRS and Scheme 
Administrator from day one.  We are entirely focused on the launch of a performant operation at go 
live, and want to ensure there is full engagement with and acceptance of the scheme by consumers 
from that point.  The benefits of the scheme will be significant and will be enjoyed over decades to 
come – we do not want to risk their long-term delivery through a faltering start. 
 
On that basis we believe that a September 2023 go live date meets the objectives of an ambitious 
yet achievable delivery for a highly complex DRS scheme which can start the consumer behaviour 
change required to meet the policy objectives.  There remain risks to that date – some are in our 
control, some sit with you and your officials – and we commit to continue to work closely with you 
and your team to manage them.  An early announcement on date, and your active support in the 
resolution of the VAT issue, remain at the top of the list of our requests of you. Without an early 
confirmation of the live date September 2023 risks becoming undeliverable. 
 
We understand the rationale for the series of early initiatives, and have already started discussions 
with your officials to identify where we can support.  But the focus of our team will remain on the 
delivery of the scheme administrator capability by the go live date and we will always prioritise the 
allocation of our limited resource to that objective.  We are keen to explore further with you and 
your officials your offer of resource to support our contribution to the pre-go live initiatives. 
 
Scotland’s DRS is the most complex and ambitious of the more than 45 schemes already in operation 
around the world.  We are setting up to be successful in the launch and operation of the scheme, 
and commit to: 

• A successful go live 

• An efficient and effective scheme administrator, delivering well for its wide range of 
stakeholders 



• An open and supportive relationship with the Scottish Government and SEPA

• A collaborative relationship, with no surprises and prior notice of major announcements and
appointments.

To deliver on those commitments we need your help and commitment in the following areas: 

• An early announcement of the revised go live date, with our views as above.  Lack of clarity
will affect our funding, our partners’ preparations, and wider stakeholder commitment to
implementation – and put at risk delivery in September 2023.  We informed your officials in
August that if a revised date wasn’t announced by the end of October these factors would
come into play, and regrettably we are already starting to see some of them have an impact.

• The VAT issue must be resolved.  If the current HMRC proposal comes into force we will
have to revisit our implementation plan and expect other stakeholders to do likewise.

• As stated earlier, the scheme is ambitious in scope – any additions to that scope add risk. We
believe there is currently a proposal to add a form of container known as a crowler - this
would add significantly to the workload at this time, but have no discernible positive impact
on the success of the DRS.

• The requirements for ‘take-back’ of on-line delivered containers present a real risk to the
successful implementation of the scheme. The 20p deposit is designed to motivate the
return of containers and should ensure the target level of returns are achieved without
necessitating delivery vehicles attending individual households (with associated indefensible
cost and environmental impacts). There are many unknown aspects of how this can be
implemented successfully, and we strongly recommend this is delayed until the full DRS is
operating successfully.

• Your support in our dealings with Industry regarding barcoding issues concerning non
deposit containers, cross border transactions and the ability to manage the fraud risk
associated with the sale in Scotland of non-scheme articles

• Your support to ensure that planning and waste permitting challenges do not threaten our
timetable

• Scottish Government backing of Circularity Scotland to strengthen our covenant in the eyes
of partners and customers who rightly need confidence in the commercial robustness of our
company

• Provision of funding - we are still working to get all of our members to provide financial
support, and whilst some of the issues above remain live we remain constrained in our
ability to ramp up our team at the rate needed to meet the go live date. There will also be
additional resource requirements due to the planned early initiatives.

We will be happy to provide regular updates on progress and milestones directly to you, and to use 
that meeting to monitor and support each other in the delivery of our mutual commitments. 

Yours sincerely 

[REDACTED]

U443034
Cross-Out
Redact name



From[REDACTED] On Behalf Of Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity 
Sent: 26 October 2021 08:31 
To[REDACTED] 
Cc: Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity <MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot> 
Subject: Letter from Lorna Slater MSP, Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity to 
Circularity Scotland Limited 
 
Good morning 
 
Please find attached a letter from Lorna Slater MSP, Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and 
Biodiversity, which is self-explanatory. 
 
Kind regards 
 
 
[REDACTED] - Private Secretary to Lorna Slater MSP, Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and 
Biodiversity 

Scottish Government | St Andrew’s House, Regent Road, Edinburgh EH1 3DG Email: 
MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot 

All e-mails and attachments sent by a Ministerial Private Office to any other official on behalf of a Minister relating to a decision, request 

or comment made by a Minister, or a note of a Ministerial meeting, must be filed appropriately by the recipient. Private Offices do not 

keep official records of such e-mails or attachments.  

 

Scottish Ministers, Special advisers and the Permanent Secretary are covered by the terms of the Lobbying (Scotland) Act 2016. See 

www.lobbying.scot 

 
 
 
 

mailto:MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot
http://www.lobbying.scot/


Scottish Ministers, special advisers and the Permanent Secretary are 

covered by the terms of the Lobbying (Scotland) Act 2016.  See 

www.lobbying.scot

St Andrew’s House, Regent Road, Edinburgh  EH1 3DG 

www.gov.scot 
  

Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and 

Biodiversity 

Lorna Slater MSP  

T: 0300 244 4000 
E: scottish.ministers@gov.scot 



[REDACTED]

[by email to: 
Lorna.Ramsay@Circularityscotland.com] 

26 October 2021 

Dear [REDACTED]

Thank you for our meeting on 7 October and your subsequent letter of 16 October 2021. We 
agreed our shared ambition for the deposit return scheme and its importance in delivering a 
circular economy and improving our environment. 

It was helpful to hear first-hand the scale of the programme CSL are taking forward and some 
of the challenges that the project is facing, as well as areas where you think Government can 
help overcome barriers to implementation. I am keen to maintain momentum on the scheme 
to see it delivered successfully as early as possible. I will do everything I can to support this 
effort.  

As discussed, I would like to see some creative thinking and suggestions to accelerate the 
project, particularly ones that reduce project risk and get people interacting with the scheme 
as early as possible. Examples might include early phased implementation of DRS, such as 
identifying lead retailers who could use new reverse vending infrastructure tied to in-store 
incentives; field-testing of CSL systems, including IT and logistics; and an early introduction in 
an island community.  

I would like to see an ‘optimistic’ project plan which incorporates successful outcomes to the 
listed challenges and which shows key milestones – ideally at least one milestone a month, 
toward the delivery of the project, and which shows the best ideas for roll out, risk mitigation 
and field testing. 

As the scheme progresses, I will expect regular, at least monthly, updates on progress against 
these milestones as part of wider governance arrangements that are being put in place to 
deliver DRS. I would hope to follow up these updates with meetings, where possible. 

I would like you to continue working with my officials and other partners, such as Zero Waste 
Scotland, to present deliverable options that we can commit to by the first week of November, 
including milestones that could be communicated to the public to demonstrate progress as 
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part of a wider communications plan. I see enormous benefits from this work in familiarising 
our communities with the deposit return model, generating early environmental benefits, and 
de-risking implementation of the overall programme. 
 
In terms of the points raised in your letter, I agree that we need a timely resolution regarding 
the VAT issue.  My officials and I are working closely with HMRC and HMT to try to reach an 
agreement in order that industry has sufficient time to prepare. 
 
Regarding the revised date for full implementation. I understand your concern that an 
announcement will not be made until after COP26.  However, it is also the case that we have 
not yet made a final decision on that date. In particular I would like to hear from you a more 
detailed explanation for why July 2023 is not achievable. It is vital that both Parliament and 
businesses are in a position to fully understand the reasons for, and the positive impacts of, 
any date change. 
 
We recognise your view that we are adding a new type of container, notably ‘crowlers’ to the 
scope of DRS. However, it is our position that crowlers (or to give a more accurate description, 
single-use containers filled at point of purchase), currently are, and have always been, in 
scope as far as the Regulations are concerned.  Nevertheless we agree that the manner in 
which existing Regulations are currently worded lacks clarity. Our proposed changes seek to 
resolve any potential confusion from the point of view of both Producers and Retailers and 
ensure that the scheme clearly dis-incentivises use of non-recyclable containers. 
 
Online takeback is an integral part of Scotland’s DRS and something we should be proud to 
be including in our scheme.  Increasingly people are opting to shop online, and it is important 
that such purchases are treated in the same manner as those from physical shops.  Not doing 
so has the potential to create confusion, undermine the behaviour change vital to a successful 
DRS and unfairly penalise high street retailers.  By moving the date for full implementation, I 
believe that this will give industry sufficient time to arrive at a set of solutions to this issue.  We 
will of course work with you where appropriate to ensure that this is a success. 
 
Likewise, while it is clear that Circularity Scotland is the correct body to lead on the issues 
involved in labelling, cross-border transactions, and fraud risk, we will provide appropriate 
support where necessary to ensure that you are able to manage these concerns. 
 
In terms of planning and waste permitting, I recommend that you continue to engage with both 
the Scottish Government and SEPA so that any concerns can be identified early in order for 
appropriate solutions to be enacted. 
 
Continuing the theme of partnership, while the Scottish Government can provide a degree of 
input and support to demonstrate to industry and the wider public our support for Circularity 
Scotland’s objectives, I feel that it is also incumbent on you to demonstrate independently that 
your organisation is robust and capable of delivering Scotland’s DRS. Early engagement with 
environmental NGOs is an example of this. 
 
Finally, I would encourage that you continue to engage with Scottish Government officials 
regarding your organisational capacity as well as seek all sources of support available, 
including your membership organisations and the Scottish National Investment Bank.  It is 
important that such constraints are identified and analysed as quickly as possible so that they 
do not impede our progress towards implementing DRS. 
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I look forward to meeting you again shortly as well as working with you over the coming months 
in delivering the UK’s first national Deposit Return Scheme. 
 
Kind regards 
 

 
 
 
LORNA SLATER 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 
From: [REDACTED]  
Sent: 02 November 2021 17:14 
To: Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity <MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot> 
Subject: RE: Immediate: response required: Follow up Meeting with Circularity Scotland - Ms Slater 
 

Hi [REDACTED] 

 
Thank you for your email. 
 
[REDACTED] can be available at 3.45pm on Thursday of this week to have a meeting with Ms Slater. 
 
Looking forward to hearing back from you regarding arrangements. 
 
Best wishes 
 
[REDACTED]   
 
From: [REDACTED] On Behalf Of MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot 
Sent: 02 November 2021 12:40 
To: [REDACTED] MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot 
Cc: Aidan.Grisewood@gov.scot 
Subject: Immediate: response required: Follow up Meeting with Circularity Scotland - Ms Slater 
Importance: High 
 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when 

opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders. 

Hi [REDACTED] 
 
Ms Slater would welcome a follow up meeting with Circularity Scotland on Thursday this week, we 
have availability between 13:00-16:30. I appreciate it’s short notice but do hope that [REDACTED]  are 
able to make themselves available to meet with Ms Slater. 
 
I look forward to hearing from you. 
 
Kind regards 
 
 
 
[REDACTED] - Private Secretary to Lorna Slater MSP, Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and 
Biodiversity 

Scottish Government | St Andrew’s House, Regent Road, Edinburgh EH1 3DG |Email: MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot 

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

Sent: 29 September 2021 20:10 
To: Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity <MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot> 
Subject: RE: Introductory Meeting - Circularity Scotland  
 

Hi [REDACTED] 
 
[REDACTED] have made themselves available to have a call with Ms Slater on Thursday 7th October at 
9am. Hopefully, this time is still convenient for Ms Slater. 
 
Looking forward to hearing from you. 
 
Kind regards 
 
[REDACTED] 

 
From: [REDACTED] On Behalf Of MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot 
Sent: 29 September 2021 15:05 
To: [REDACTED]; MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot 
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
 
Yes sorry – not sure where I got November!  
 
Thanks  
[REDACTED] 
 
[REDACTED] – Assistant Private Secretary to Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity – 
Lorna Slater MSP 
Scottish Government | St Andrew’s House, Regent Road, Edinburgh, EH1 3DG |  
Mob: [REDACTED]  | Email: MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot 
 
Please check our Ministerial Preferences 
All e-mails and attachments sent by a Ministerial Private Office to any other official on behalf of a Minister 
relating to a decision, request or comment made by a Minister, or a note of a Ministerial meeting, must be 
filed appropriately by the recipient. Private Offices do not keep official records of such e-mails or attachments.  
 
 
 
From: [REDACTED]  

Sent: 29 September 2021 15:02 
To: Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity <MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot> 
Subject: RE: Introductory Meeting - Circularity Scotland  
 

Hi [REDACTED] 
 

mailto:MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot
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I have the meeting diarised for Tuesday 26th October from 2pm to 2.45pm. Is this the date and time 
you have? 
 
Thanks 
 
[REDACTED] 

 
From: [REDACTED]  On Behalf Of MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot 
Sent: 29 September 2021 14:57 
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

Hi[REDACTED],  
 
Yes I was meaning next week – but no worries, we’ll stick with the November date!  
 
Thanks for confirming.  
 
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
[REDACTED] | Email: MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot 
 
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
 
 
 

From: [REDACTED] >  
Sent: 29 September 2021 14:54 
To: Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity <MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot> 
Subject: RE: Introductory Meeting - Circularity Scotland  
 

Hi [REDACTED] 
 
Can I check that you mean 6th or 7th October rather than November? If it’s next week I’m afraid we 
have partner presentations taking place all of next week and attendees are travelling to attend so 
can’t be changed. 
 
Regards 
 
Lorna 
 
From: [REDACTED] > On Behalf Of MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot 
Sent: 29 September 2021 10:12 
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
 
Can I be a pest and ask if there is any possibility of the meeting happening next week instead?  
 
Perhaps 6th of November, 11:00 – 12:00 or 7th of November between 09:00 – 11:00?  
 
No worries if not.  
 
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
Sent: 28 September 2021 17:47 
To: Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity <MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot> 
Subject: RE: Introductory Meeting - Circularity Scotland  
 

Thank you [REDACTED] 
 
From: [REDACTED] On Behalf Of MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot 
Sent: 28 September 2021 17:39 
To[REDACTED] MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot 
Subject: RE: Introductory Meeting - Circularity Scotland  
 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when 

opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders. 

Hi [REDACTED],  
 
Please see the below link for the meeting, grateful if you can pass this on.  
 
Microsoft Teams meeting  
Join on your computer or mobile app  
Click here to join the meeting  
Or call in (audio only)  
[REDACTED]  
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Find a local number | Reset PIN  
SCOTS Connect  
Learn More | Help | Meeting options  
 
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
Sent: 28 September 2021 17:31 
To: Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity <MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot> 
Subject: RE: Introductory Meeting - Circularity Scotland  
 

Hi [REDACTED] 
 
Both our [REDACTED], are available to meet with Ms Slater on Tuesday 26 October at 2pm. 
 
Kind regards 
 
[REDACTED] 

 
From: [REDACTED] On Behalf Of MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot 
Sent: 28 September 2021 17:07 
To[REDACTED]; MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot 
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
 
It will be virtual – over MS Teams, is this ok?  
 
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
Sent: 28 September 2021 16:51 
To: Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity <MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot> 
Subject: RE: Introductory Meeting - Circularity Scotland  
 
[REDACTED] 
I meant to ask if this was an in person meeting or a virtual? 
 
Thanks 
 
[REDACTED] 

 
From: [REDACTED] 
Sent: 28 September 2021 16:50 
To: MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot 
Subject: RE: Introductory Meeting - Circularity Scotland  
 

Hi [REDACTED] 
 
Thank you for sending another date, much appreciated. This date works for [REDACTED]. I’m going to 
check with our [REDACTED]. I should be able to let you know today. 
 
Kind regards 
 
[REDACTED] 

 
From: [REDACTED]  On Behalf Of MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot 
Sent: 28 September 2021 09:20 
To: [REDACTED]  ; MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot 
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
 
No worries at all.  
 
Would Tuesday 26 October, 14:00 – 14:45 suit?  
 
Thanks  
[REDACTED]   
 
[REDACTED]  – Assistant Private Secretary to Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity – 
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
Sent: 27 September 2021 14:40 
To: Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity <MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot> 
Subject: RE: Introductory Meeting - Circularity Scotland  
 

Dear [REDACTED]   
 
Following on from [REDACTED]   email, I would be delighted to assist in setting up an introductory 
meeting between Ms Slater, [REDACTED]  . Are there any other dates that you could offer as CSL has 
a number of presentations week of 4th October and unfortunately, as they have been set up for a 
while, we are unable to rearrange the presentation on 5th October. 
 
Looking forward to hearing from you. 
 
Regards 
 
[REDACTED]   
 
[REDACTED]   

Website: Home - Circularity Scotland 

Follow us: LinkedIn & Twitter  
 

 
 
 
 
From: [REDACTED]   
Sent: 26 September 2021 11:38 
To: MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot; [REDACTED]   
Subject: RE: Introductory Meeting - Circularity Scotland  
 
[REDACTED]   
 
Thank you for the email. 
 
I have passed this to [REDACTED]  our EA, who will get back to you with the arrangement. 
 
Kind regards. 
 
[REDACTED]   
 

http://saltire/my-workplace/ministerial-preferences-and-support/Finance-and-the-Economy/Pages/Minister-for-Public-Finance-Planning-and-Community-Wealth.aspx
mailto:MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=https%3a%2f%2fcircularityscotland.com%2f&c=E,1,SYgTpyYailt1e5a0Po8LIlu5M5O7NhUKIsilmltCzJ8X3JCdt3a5vsSfkDfXb0Kt7RPPSKPz-RWpEQ_Znl1zDMqLM1NrE3Zu50_MacJdvVaWnQ,,&typo=1
https://www.linkedin.com/company/circularityscotland/
https://twitter.com/Circ_Scotland
mailto:MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot


From: [REDACTED]  On Behalf Of MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot 
Sent: 23 September 2021 15:06 
To: [REDACTED]   
Cc: MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot 
Subject: Introductory Meeting - Circularity Scotland  
 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when 

opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders. 

Hi both,  
 
As you’ll be aware, Ms Lorna Slater MSP was recently appointed as Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy 
and Biodiversity.  
 
As such, she is keen to meet with key stakeholders as part of her induction.  
 
Would Tuesday 5 October, 11:00 – 11:45 suit?  
 
Thanks  
[REDACTED]   
 
[REDACTED]  – Assistant Private Secretary to Minister for Public Finance, Planning and Community Wealth – 
Tom Arthur 
Scottish Government | St Andrew’s House, Regent Road, Edinburgh, EH1 3DG |  
Mob: [REDACTED]   | Email: MinisterPFPCW@gov.scot 
 
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

 
 
**********************************************************************  
This e-mail (and any files or other attachments transmitted with it) is intended solely for the attention of the 
addressee(s). Unauthorised use, disclosure, storage, copying or distribution of any part of this e-mail is not 
permitted. If you are not the intended recipient please destroy the email, remove any copies from your system 
and inform the sender immediately by return. 
Communications with the Scottish Government may be monitored or recorded in order to secure the effective 
operation of the system and for other lawful purposes. The views or opinions contained within this e-mail may 
not necessarily reflect those of the Scottish Government. 
********************************************************************** 
 
 

mailto:MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot
mailto:MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot
mailto:MinisterPFPCW@gov.scot
http://saltire/my-workplace/ministerial-preferences-and-support/Finance-and-the-Economy/Pages/Minister-for-Public-Finance-Planning-and-Community-Wealth.aspx


From: [REDACTED]   
Sent: 04 November 2021 19:48 
To: Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity <MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot> 
Cc: [REDACTED]  Grisewood A (Aidan) <Aidan.Grisewood@gov.scot>; [REDACTED]   
Subject: Deposit Return Scheme - Circularity Scotland 
 
Dear Minister 
 
Please find attached a letter (and associated attachment) in response to your letter of 26 October 
covering discussions on go live of DRS in Scotland. 
 
Best wishes 
 
[REDACTED]   
 
 
 
Sent on their behalf by [REDACTED]   

Website: Home - Circularity Scotland 

Follow us: LinkedIn & Twitter  
 

 
 
 

https://circularityscotland.com/
https://www.linkedin.com/company/circularityscotland/
https://twitter.com/Circ_Scotland


 
 

Circularity Scotland Limited 
Exchange Tower 

19 Canning Street 
Edinburgh 

EH3 8EH 
 

4 November 2021 
Ms Lorna Slater MSP 
Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity 
St Andrew’s House 
Regent Road 
Edinburgh 
EH1 3DG 
 

Deposit Return Scheme – Go Live Discussions 
 
Dear Lorna, 
 
Thank you for your considered and detailed response to our letter outlining where we believe the 
Scottish Government can support the launch and operation of a successful Deposit Return Scheme in 
Scotland.  In particular we are encouraged by your commitment to do everything you can to support 
this initiative.  Thank you also for your frank, candid and constructive discussion on our recent call. 
 
This letter gives a detailed response to your own correspondence with us.  We have summarised our 
key points as follows: 

 We remain committed to an ambitious yet achievable go live date in September 2023.  
There have been no changes to our planning assumptions since we originally presented this 
plan in August - indeed the risk of achieving that date is increasing 

 The continued lack of clarity on exactly how detailed VAT rules apply to the complexity of 
DRS, and the continued lack of a revised go live date, are creating nervousness in our 
funders, suppliers and stakeholders 

 We are committed to pre go-live activities to show progress, as set out in our recent 
communication.  However, for this to be successful there will be a need for clear leadership 
and funding from you 

 We are delivering high quality and professional programme governance.  We are happy to 
share outputs of these processes with you 

 
We continue to have fruitful and detailed discussions with your officials on the nature and delivery 
of milestones and activities before go live, that will demonstrate to the public meaningful progress 
towards full operational readiness of DRS, and provide opportunities for the people of Scotland to 
experience the benefits of DRS earlier in the programme.  We have attached a detailed brief 
describing our proposed approach to a trial in Orkney, and identifying the provision of support to 
your officials in other areas, including the sourcing of temporary RVMs and the identification of 
other closed loop pilots.  The attachment also includes a confidential list of our programme 
milestones which could be used to demonstrate progress towards go live – a subset of which is: 
 

 Appointment of preferred partners for Transport and Process (Nov/Dec 2021) 

 Appointment of additional Non-Executive Directors to the CSL Board (Jan/Feb 2022) 

 [REDACTED]   



 
 

 First building works on a Counting Centre site (early summer 2022) 

 Contractual registration opens for Producers (early 2023) 
 
It is important to emphasise that our focus will remain on the delivery of our implementation 
programme to ensure a successful launch and subsequent operation (and that programme objective 
remains a full launch across Scotland covering all aspects of the current regulations).  For that reason 
we are encouraged by your officials’ commitment to manage the overall pre-go-live activities, but 
we must continue to highlight that we will require funding and/or resource to deliver the activities 
we will lead on but which are outside the scope of our implementation programme.   
 
On the subject of full scheme go live date, our position remains unchanged from the detailed IT 
programme analysis presented to your officials and IT experts in early August, and the detailed 
analysis of the full programme presented to your officials later in August: 

 Our critical path is the delivery of our IT system.  There are different ways to deliver such a 
solution – but we won’t be clear on the optimum approach until the conclusion of our 
procurement process at the end of December 2021.  Our judgement on timescales is based 
on IT delivery and programme management best practice  

 Our secondary critical path is the establishment of an environmentally friendly logistics 
service to collect from 37,000 return points, whilst minimising vehicle miles.  The 
procurement process for a partner in this area is underway, and initial proposals are 
supporting our previous view that that capability would be tested, integrated and available 
by 2023 at the earliest.  The publication of a revised go live date is on the critical path for the 
readiness of the logistics service, and all partners have flagged their desire to commence 
work as soon as possible to counter the growing risk of driver and vehicle unavailability.   

 We are unaware of any changes to the readiness of producers and retailers to deliver their 
part of a successful DRS.  Your officials have largely validated our own assessment that they 
will require between 12 and 18 months to be ready, from the point of receipt of scheme 
design information from CSL in Q4 2021/22, which would take until September 2023 

 Our definition of September 2023 as an achievable go live date was made in August.  Since 
then we have invested effort in the definition and scoping of the desired pre go-live events, 
to support a September 2023 date, and will therefore have additional work, on top of our 
core implementation programme, to deliver these events 

 We appreciate the considerable pressures on you to adopt an earlier date, but we see 
substantial risk in going live earlier, and we will lose the hearts and minds of consumers in 
terms of their adoption of DRS if launch is sub-optimal. 

 Our overriding objective for go live is that Day 1 is a success and immediately starts the 
behaviour change in consumers on which the policy objectives are built. 

 As time passes we see increased risk which threatens even September, and we are pleased 
that you will announce the revised date within 2 weeks.  Further delay here would have 
inevitably led to our low risk date of Feb/Mar 2024 becoming our committed date 

 For these reasons, and as laid out in the risk assessment of alternative go live dates, 
September 2023 remains the most optimistic delivery date to which we are able to commit.  
We believe we have achieved a broad consensus with our members on this date being 
achievable. 

 
We understand and support the need for a programme of this nature and scale to be well governed.  
We continue to enhance our own governance model for our programme.  We report monthly and 
formally to our board, who in turn will commission external assurance during 2022 and 2023.  We 
provide monthly updates to members and hold quarterly meetings with them to address any 



 
 

questions or concerns they may have.  We have weekly and fortnightly meetings with your officials, 
at different levels, and have regular meetings with SEPA and Zero Waste Scotland.  We are 
committed to further engagement – for example we will participate in the next iteration of the 
Scottish Government Programme Governance model, and in particular (and as we mentioned on the 
call) are pushing for the Communications and Engagement Working Group to be established and 
take the leadership in supporting pre-go live communications. 
 
We are happy to issue our member monthly briefings to you, and would propose a meeting with you 
after our quarterly member meetings to provide further updates and share feedback from our 
members. 
 
In terms of an update since we last spoke, and covering off some of the additional points raised in 
your letter: 
 

 VAT:  We issued our alternative proposal to HMT, HMRC and your officials on 24 September 
2021, and we are pleased that they intend to respond as you discussed.  As we declared, 
however, we will continue to seek a meeting with the Treasury Secretary (Lucy Fraser MP).  
The lack of clarity on VAT rules, and the associated complexity, remains one of the biggest 
risks to the overall scheme, and as we mentioned the mid October deadline for that clarity 
to be defined, and so included in our IT tender, has not been achieved.  We appreciate your 
continued support in this area. 

 Announcement of Go Live Date:  as already noted we appreciate that you are seeking to 
make an announcement in two weeks’ time 

 Scheme complexity and design clarity: 
o We acknowledge and accept your position on single-use containers filled at point of 

purchase. 
o Whilst we support the policy objectives, we remain concerned about the approach 

for the implementation of takeback.  In the 18 months since the regulations were 
passed, industry have been unable to design an effective and efficient operating 
model.  There are increasing signs that the solution will be expensive, complex and 
most concerningly have a highly detrimental environmental impact. 

o Industry faces further challenges with the complexity of dealing with many different 
governing agencies – SEPA, Environmental Health, The Royal Environmental Health 
Institute of Scotland, Trading Standards, Local Authorities etc. – many of whom are 
providing conflicting or inconsistent advice and rules.  We believe there is a role for 
the Scottish Government to bring consistency of advice and rules across Scotland, 
and provide a single point of co-ordination.  On behalf of industry we would 
welcome your intervention here.  

 Cross border, permitting and waste licencing:  we welcome any support here, and will 
continue to engage with officials and SEPA as we discussed 

 Funding and organisational capacity:  we gratefully acknowledge your input and support to 
date.  We anticipate that there will be a need for confirmation of the government’s 
commitment to this policy, to provide comfort for the banks – best achieved by a direct 
conversation with you.  We would appreciate your further support at the appropriate time.   

 
 
 
 
 



 
 

We appreciate the open and collaborative approach of you and your team, and we reiterate our 
commitment to a successful deposit return scheme.  Our programme is currently focused on delivery 
in September 2023, which we believe is increasingly under pressure given the growing risks 
highlighted above.   
 
Please let us know if there is anything further you require by way of follow up to this letter.  
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 
[REDACTED]   



 
From: [REDACTED]   
Sent: 18 November 2021 16:49 
To: Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity <MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot> 
Subject: RE: Letter from [REDACTED]  , Circularity Scotland to Ms Lorna Slater MSP 
 

Thank you for confirming receipt [REDACTED]  . 
 
Best wishes 
 
[REDACTED]   
 
From: [REDACTED]   On Behalf Of MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot 
Sent: 18 November 2021 16:14 
To: [REDACTED]   
Cc: [REDACTED] Aidan.Grisewood@gov.scot; [REDACTED]   
Subject: RE: Letter from [REDACTED]  , Circularity Scotland to Ms Lorna Slater MSP 
 

CAUTION: This email originated from outside your organization. Exercise caution when 

opening attachments or clicking links, especially from unknown senders. 

Good afternoon [REDACTED]   
 
I can confirm receipt of the letter from David Harris. A response will be with you in due course.  
 
Kind regards 
 

[REDACTED]  to Lorna Slater MSP, Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity 

Scottish Government | St Andrew’s House, Regent Road, Edinburgh EH1 3DG | Email: 
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
Sent: 18 November 2021 15:36 
To: Minister for Green Skills, Circular Economy and Biodiversity <MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot> 
Cc: [REDACTED]  Grisewood A (Aidan) <Aidan.Grisewood@gov.scot>; [REDACTED]   
Subject: Letter from [REDACTED]  , Circularity Scotland to Ms Lorna Slater MSP 
 
Please find attached a letter from [REDACTED]  to Ms Lorna Slater. I would be grateful if you could 
confirm receipt. 
 
Kind regards 
 

mailto:MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot
mailto:Aidan.Grisewood@gov.scot
mailto:MinisterGSCEB@gov.scot
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=http%3a%2f%2fwww.lobbying.scot%2f&c=E,1,ErvyoHyNFG5qIpOvsHubSFOt81KCOn2kxWhKeKUcfDgFbUmVoQ92UwFFmW2e9tyi0y4Hgb_UDeKW4H09d-Jla7wvePLmYoaMq3pfsLUZww,,&typo=1
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
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